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[English]

The Chair (Hon. Wayne Easter (Malpeque, Lib.)): I call the
meeting to order. Welcome to meeting number 51, panel one of the
House of Commons Standing Committee on Finance. We are meet-
ing on government spending, WE Charity and the Canada student
service grant. Today's meeting is taking place by video conference,
and the proceedings will be made available on the House of Com-
mons website.

Mr. Poilievre, I believe you have a point of order.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre (Carleton, CPC): Yes, one hour will be
insufficient time for the witnesses. I don't want to waste any of that
hour debating the amount of time. This is just to give you notice
that Conservatives will be moving to invite these witnesses back for
an additional three hours after this hearing is over, unless, of
course, this meeting can be extended.

The Chair: We'll say it's a point of information. I knew there
would be a bit of controversy around the one hour, because we had
talked about it previously.

We did initially invite the witnesses for one hour. They agreed to
come as of Tuesday. A schedule of the committee went out, I be-
lieve it was last Friday, which indicated there would be one hour
with these witnesses.

The clerk did talk to them this morning to see if it was possible
for two hours, but they had one hour available, so we will stick
with that. Maybe we'll get all the answers in half an hour, you never
know. People in the private sector have businesses to run, so their
time is very valuable as well.

With that, we will start with the witnesses. I want to welcome the
witnesses, and thank them for coming. We have, from WE Charity,
Mrs. Al-Waheidi, executive director; and Mr. Baker, chief opera-
tions officer. As an individual, we have Ms. Marquez, former staff
member, government and stakeholder relations, WE Charity.

Mrs. Al-Wabheidi, the floor is yours.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi (Executive Director, WE Charity):
Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you to the committee.

Good afternoon. My name is Dalal Al-Waheidi, and I serve as
the executive director for WE Charity.

I've spent 18 years in various roles at WE Charity, and I work
alongside an exceptional team. I'm proud of the impact we make in
helping young people at home by engaging them in service, and

around the world helping children and families lift themselves out
of extreme poverty. Our work is so important to me.

I'm a Palestinian Canadian and a refugee by birth. Growing up, [
was affected by war twice: First, my family was in Kuwait during
the 1990 Gulf War, and second, while living in the Gaza Strip. As a
child and a teenager, I experienced first-hand the terrible impact of
war, political instability, violence and systematic racism of young
children because of identity, nationality and religion. However, I
held on to a faint hope that my education would unlock doors for
my future.

These experiences of political and cultural divisiveness have
come to define my life and my professional career at WE Charity,
from advocating for young people, advancing education, working
on diversity and inclusion, and championing the rights of girls and
women.

In 1998, I arrived in Canada on my own to study international
development, on a full scholarship, at Trent University. After grad-
uation, I was proud to join a Canadian-founded not-for-profit, then
called Free the Children and now known as WE Charity.

I have been lucky to build an entrepreneurial career with WE
Charity, progressing from a youth coordinator to a program builder,
overseeing our international development programs, leading WE
Day, and now as its executive director. My story is only one of the
many stories of people who have helped build this organization
with staff and volunteers, many of whom have worked for 25 years
to build WE Charity into what it is today.

I was directly involved in shaping and growing it, alongside pas-
sionate and dedicated team members for WE Days across Canada.
It was our dream to make it cool for kids to care and to contribute.
WE Day is a celebration of their service to their communities.
Imagine the young person who volunteers for the first time in life,
who cares about poverty or homelessness or racial injustice, who
takes a stand on an issue, raises their voice for our cause or orga-
nizes a campaign, and then gets to celebrate with other youth who
want to change the world too.
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Through WE Day, more than one million Canadians have been
inspired to give back and volunteer for the first time. We have
worked with 7,000 schools. Students have volunteered 70 million
hours for more than 3,000 causes, creating compassionate people
who know they can make a difference. Studies have shown that our
alumni are more likely to join, volunteer and look for careers in the
social sector.

In addition to our local work, we also do international develop-
ment, which makes us different. Through our development projects,
we have built 1,500 schools and classrooms where more than
200,000 children have been educated and 30,000 women have been
supported by our alternative income projects. I have had the honour
to meet hundreds and hundreds of children in developing countries
who attend schools built by WE Charity, many of whom are girls.

WE Charity is different from most groups, and that can be a
source of confusion. As we grew beyond the small charity, it re-
quired a better model to sustain itself and its good work. ME to WE
social enterprise creates jobs overseas, especially for women en-
trepreneurs, and it chose volunteers and donors at all of our global
development sites so that they can transparently see the impact of
our development projects.

Since the ME to WE social enterprise was founded in 2008,
100% of its profit—every penny—has been annually donated to
WE Charity or reinvested to grow the social mission. At a time
when charitable donations in Canada are at a 30-year low, the sup-
port of the social enterprise means that we do not have to plead for
money from an ever-dwindling group of donors.

® (1505)

WE Charity is not perfect, especially when pulling apart every
choice over the past 25 years, but I hope Canadians are willing to
give us a second look. Under additional lights, outside of the politi-
cal controversy we find ourselves in, our programs should be seen
as innovative and entrepreneurial and delivering meaningful im-
pact, benefiting children across Canada and around the world.

One of the greatest privileges of my life has been helping to
bring service opportunities to young people. It was with great opti-
mism that I worked alongside a talented team to make the Canada
service grant a reality. A lot has been lost with its cancellation. This
summer tens of thousands of students, over 65% from the visible
minority population, lost their service opportunities. I could never
have imagined that the combination of COVID-19 and the political
fallout of agreeing to partner on the CSSG could be so devastating
for WE Charity, our staff and the communities we serve.

A lot has happened. This week we had to release staff in Canada
and say good-bye to talented and passionate members who came to
WE because of their commitment to service. This is incredibly dif-
ficult and emotional. We have proactively suspended many of our
philanthropic partnerships and school board partnerships in Canada.
The organization is examining every aspect of what it does, includ-
ing streamlining its organizational structure, conducting a gover-
nance review, simplifying its brand and closing certain programs.

It is easy to tear things down, but I can tell you from personal
experience that it's not easy to build. Twenty-five years were in-
vested by thousands of current and former staff, board members,

teachers, schools, donors, students and advisers to create a unique
platform for youth engagement and international development. |
want to take a moment to share my gratitude and thanks for each
one of them for believing in our mission. Regardless of the
firestorm we are facing, nothing can erase the pride I feel for the
impact of WE Charity and the dedication of our team. I know what
has been achieved. I've seen it. I've seen its magical impact. It is
worth saving.

As a child who fled war twice, Canada has given me everything.
I've tried and worked very hard to give something back. I hope my
two daughters, Zeina and Leila, first-generation Canadians, will
one day participate in service programs, give back to this country
and be celebrated for their service. I want to do my part to always
ensure that Canada continues to be a good country with good peo-
ple who have good hearts.

Thank you. Meegwetch. Merci. Shukran.
® (1510)

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Marquez and Mr. Baker, I don't believe you have opening
statements. [s that right? Okay. You're here as a group.

The first round will be a six-minute round. We'll start with Mr.
Poilievre and then go to Ms. Koutrakis, Mr. Fortin and Mr. Julian.

Mr. Poilievre, the floor is yours.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: WE Charity Foundation received $30
million from the Government of Canada. Unfortunately, you've on-
ly repaid $22 million. Where is the rest?

Mr. Scott Baker (Chief Operations Officer, WE Charity):
Yes, on June 30 we did receive $30 million. We have returned $22
million of those funds. We are in the process of working with the
government—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Sorry, the question was where is the rest?
Where is it? In what account is it being held?

The Chair: Mr. Poilievre, these are witnesses from the commu-
nity. Let's give them a little time, even if we go a little over.

Mr. Scott Baker: We're in the process right now of working as
quickly as we can with the government to return it. They're driving
the process.

The funds are currently in bank accounts, not earning any inter-
est and not accessed in any way.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Was the money originally transferred to
WE Charity or the WE Charity Foundation?
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Mr. Scott Baker: The agreement was with the WE Charity
Foundation. As a result, the transfer was to the WE Charity Foun-
dation.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did it remain there or did any of it get
transferred over to WE Charity?

Mr. Scott Baker: Since receiving the money on June 30, it has
not been touched.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Thank you.
My next question is for you, Ms. Marquez. You do government

relations work for WE. Since March 1 have you been in contact
with anyone in the Prime Minister's Office?

Ms. Sofia Marquez (Former Staff Member, Government and
Stakeholder Relations, WE Charity, As an Individual): No, I
have not.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Anyone in the office of Minister
Morneau?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Would you repeat the date?
Hon. Pierre Poilievre: The date is March 1.
Ms. Sofia Marquez: Yes, [ have.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Who?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: | have been in contact with staffers at Min-
ister Morneau's office.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: What are the names?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: They are Amit Singh, a political staffer, as
well as...she's been a witness, Michelle Kovacevic. I think that's her
last name.

The Chair: Yes, she's with the public service.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: She's a public servant.

Again, just to make sure, have you communicated with anybody
in the Prime Minister's Office since March 1?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Since March 1, I was only in communica-
tion with two people at the Prime Minister's Office. Allow me to
make sure that I'm very clear. It was on May 5, with a staffer, a di-
rector of policy. His name is Rick Theis. I emailed as well another
person. Her name is Laura Lebel.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: On what date?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: That was on May....
® (1515)

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Come back to it later in the meeting. We
don't have time.

How long was your conversation with the PMO policy director
on May 5?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: It was very brief. It was a very high-level
conversation of about half an hour. It was a debrief of the current
state of the proposal that had already been in the works with ESDC.
We provided context as to the latest development on the proposal.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did you get any assurance that WE Char-
ity could begin implementing the proposal on May 5?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Not at all.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: How did WE think it was authorized to
start implementing a government program if no one in the govern-
ment had authorized you to do so on the 5th?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: That's a question that I cannot respond to. I
was not involved in the contribution agreement negotiation process.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Okay, but there was no contribution
agreement for another month and a half, so somebody told you over
at WE that you could go and start spending money, hiring people
and implementing the program. Who told you that?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Again, | was not involved in those conver-
sations. It would have been the executives at WE Charity who
would have had.... I have no idea.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Was it Mrs. Al-Waheidi who told you
that you could start implementing the program? Just the name,
please.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We have worked with a few individuals
within ESDC on the contribution agreement—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: No, that's not my question. I'm sorry, I do
have to cut you off. I'm not asking about the contribution agree-
ment.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: [7echnical difficulty—Editor]

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: [ have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: What's your point of order?

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: We are limited in time because the wit-
nesses are planning to skedaddle out the door early. My question is
not about the contribution agreement. It would not be concluded for
another six weeks. My question is about who authorized them to
start on the Sth.

The Chair: That's not a point of order. It's a matter of debate. |
don't think it's fair to say that the witnesses are skedaddling out the
door. I'll not take the time away from you. They agreed to be here
for an hour, and it's unfair to imply that.

Mrs. Al-Waheidi, complete your response, and we'll move on to
Mr. Poilievre.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

We started a conversation with ESDC about the contribution
agreement and on the program design as of May 5. During that time
it is not uncommon for contribution agreement negotiations for or-
ganizations to claim—

The Chair: Okay. We'll go to Mr. Poilievre now.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Who told you that you could start imple-
menting the program and spending money on May 5?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We were in negotiation about the pro-
gram at that time.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: I know that, but you began implementing
the program on May 5. Somebody ought to have told you that you
could do that. Who was it?
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Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We had conversations with various
members of ESDC whereby we had to implement the program de-
sign. It was implemented in such a short period of time—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Just give me the name, just the person.
Who told you?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We had different conversations with dif-
ferent people who were part of the negotiation process for the con-
tract—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Okay, so you're either—
The Chair: This is your last question. The last couple...Pierre.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: When you come back for your next testi-
mony you'll have to answer this question. You would not, as an or-
ganization, have begun spending large sums of money on this pro-
gram if someone in the government had not told you, before May 5,
that you could start doing so on that date.

I'm asking you again—this will be the fourth time. Somebody
would have to have told you. Who was it?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Nobody told us we could spend money
before. I wish to remind the committee that these were eligible ex-
penditures that were allowed to be reimbursed. I am trying to an-
swer the question, with all due respect, if you can give me the cour-
tesy to answer the question.

Nobody told us from ESDC, or any other parties, before May 5
that we could spend the money. They were only eligible expendi-
tures as per the process of our contribution agreement. We were
asked by the government to work on this project in view of
COVID-19, and with short timelines we had to be ready.

The Chair: We will have to move on to Madame Koutrakis, fol-
lowed by Mr. Fortin.

[Translation]
Ms. Annie Koutrakis (Vimy, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My question is for Mrs. Al-Waheidi.

Mrs. Al-Wabheidi, it has been insinuated by the opposition and re-
ported in the media that WE Charity wasn't able to provide services
in both official languages in Quebec. I understand that you have an
office in Montreal and that you work with many schools in the
province.

Could you tell us about that?
® (1520
[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: WE Charity is a national organization.
You are correct. We do have an office and staff in Montreal. We
have worked with over 400 schools across the province of Quebec.
We have also worked in various provinces with high speaking
French communities. We have implemented 11 WE Days, and we
engage hundreds and thousands of students as part of this process.
We have bilingual activities and partnerships. We have formulated
partnerships with school boards, and with other local organizations
to help us in the process.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: There also appear to be misleading state-
ments in the media primarily perpetuated by the opposition. Maybe

you can clear the record for us. What was National's role? How and
why was National chosen?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: National PR was hired to assist us in the
process to reach out to francophone and Quebec organizations espe-
cially in the area of engagement of not-for-profit organizations. We
were really excited about the opportunity that CSSG would provide
in helping us to support communities in Quebec and francophone
areas. That was the role for which it was hired.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: Also, part of your role involved oversee-
ing organizational governance at WE Charity. How involved were
you with the decision-making process with regard to the CSSG pro-
gram? Were you aware of all the decisions that were being made?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: As the executive director for the organi-
zation, part of my role is to manage team members to operational-
ize the program. My role was to bring this program to life in such a
short period of time from an operational level.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: How often did you work directly or indi-
rectly with Ms. Marquez? Were you aware that there were no regis-
trations by Ms. Marquez or anyone representing WE Charity in the
federal lobbying registry?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We have registered as lobbyists, but I
want to provide context, which I think is really important.

For the past years, our engagement with the government was
about 1% to 3% of our overall budget, and we found that it was
minimal. If I thought that registration was required, we would have
done it, and we would have had an accord. That's something I
would like to share from a context perspective.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: My next question is for Mr. Scott Baker.

Has WE Charity's board of directors ever voiced any concern
over the organization's decision not to register and report lobbying
activities?

Mr. Scott Baker: We do have a very active board of directors
that is engaged in the organization, and we meet on a regular basis.
At no point, over our history, has the board of directors raised any
concerns about the registration as lobbyists.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: My next question is for Ms. Sofia Mar-
quez.

How much of your time, each month, would you say you spent
lobbying the federal government? Does this include time spent
preparing for communications with public officer holders?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: As director of government and stakeholder
relations at WE, I helped the organization achieve its goals through
identifying funding, pools of funding and opportunities privately or
publicly available. As part of that, indeed, I would engage the fed-
eral government as part of my portfolio, but I also had other re-
sponsibilities, including the oversight and project implementation
of contribution agreements.
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Within that context, I would like to clarify that the tracking of
hours and how my position actually evolved did not allow to have
very detailed track records. Also, that varied as well quite signifi-
cantly depending on the period of time where that happened.

The Chair: You can have a very quick question, Annie.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: Okay.

This is my final question, Ms. Marquez. Why did you leave WE
Charity in July?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I actually was laid off at the end of March
of 2020. After that I was engaged by WE in the same role as an in-
dependent contractor, and that contract ended on July 31. I felt that
it was the right time for me to move on to better and brighter oppor-
tunities, and I am incredibly grateful for the opportunities and the
growth that I have had throughout my time at WE.

® (1525)
The Chair: Thanks, both of you.

We're a little ahead of time there, with just 10 seconds, Annie.
We will go to Mr. Fortin, who will be followed by Mr. Julian.

Rhéal.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin (Riviére-du-Nord, BQ):
Mr. Chair.

Thank you,

Mrs. Marquez, I'm going to address you first. Excuse me, I'm go-
ing to start with Mrs. Al-Waheidi instead. I'm sorry, there are too
many witnesses at the same time.

You told us that there were staff and offices in Montreal. How
long has that been the case, Mrs. Al-Waheidi? I'm sorry, but I may
have mispronounced your name.

[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: No. Thank you. You did a really good
job at pronouncing my name. I appreciate it.

WE started working in Montreal in 2007—
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: When did the office open?
[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: It was at some time between 2007 and
2008. I don't have the exact date in front of me, but I have the year.
I'm happy to provide this information.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Okay.

Are you aware that this office is closed right now, as we speak?
[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Sorry?
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Mrs. Al-Waheidi, are you aware that your of-
fice on Saint-Hubert Street in Montreal is closed as we speak?

[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: As part of our activities, because of the
pandemic, at this point all of the staff are working from home.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Mrs. Al-Waheidi, your office is closed, the
lease has been terminated and Hydro-Québec was going to discon-
nect the power this week. There hasn't been anybody there for a
few months. Did you know that?

[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Mr. Chair, I'm trying to answer the ques-
tion. When the pandemic hit, because of the safety of our team we
decided to make the decision that they needed to work from home.
Like many other charities and many other organizations, we made
this decision.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: All right.

How many employees does the WE Charity Foundation have in
Montreal?
[English]

Mr. Scott Baker: The WE Charity Foundation does not have
any employees anywhere in Canada.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Baker.

How many employees does WE Charity have in Montreal?
[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We'll have to [Technical difficulty—Edi-
tor]

Mr. Scott Baker: We don't have this information readily in front
of us at this point. We're happy to take this away and provide that
number.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: In all of Quebec, how many employees work
for WE Charity or any related corporation or entity?

[English]
Mr. Scott Baker: What I can share is that throughout our history
as an organization we've often had 12 to 15.

As a result of the pandemic, we have had to realize that decrease
that includes our offices in Vancouver and Montreal—

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: I'm sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Baker, but we
don't have a lot of time. Could you name one Quebec employee
who works for WE Charity?

[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Yes, we can. We have many employees.
We've had their presence. The number is...this is full-time employ-
ees, but we also hire contractors, so I believe, Mr. Chair, that we've
answered the question.
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[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Could you send us a list of the names and
contact information of the employees of WE Charity or any other
related entity working in Quebec?

[English]

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We will need to check with our HR de-
partment because we're sharing private information of employees.
We are happy to provide you with the number of employees, but we
need to check with HR.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you.
Mrs. Marquez, are you registered with the federal government's
registry of lobbyists?
[English]
Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, I have not.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Why? Haven't you ever felt the need to do
so?

[English]

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I understood that I was not the person re-
sponsible for the compliance of the act at WE Charity.

® (1530)
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Wasn't your job specifically to maintain rela-
tions with the federal government, among others, and other govern-
ments?

[English]

Ms. Sofia Marquez: As director of government and stakeholder
relations, developing and understanding funding opportunities at
various levels of government was part of my job.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Have you been registered as a lobbyist out-
side of the federal government, in a province or a municipality?

[English]
Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, I am not.
[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Okay.
Approximately what percentage of your time is spent lobbying
with federal, provincial or municipal governments?
[English]

Ms. Sofia Marquez: The amount of time that I spent on either
level of government and the type of work that I would be doing
varied with time, and I'm not in a position to right now provide you
a specific number. However, if you'll allow me—

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Approximately—

[English]

The Chair: I'll give you a little more time, Mr. Fortin, to allow
for translation.

Answer the question, and we'll go to Mr. Fortin's last question.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Thank you. If you'd allow me, my under-
standing is that this is a compliance issue, and WE Charity is right
now dealing with that matter.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: I didn't get an answer to my question, but I'll
move on to another one.

Mr. Baker, you told us earlier that $22 million had been returned
to the federal government and that the balance of about $8 million
is apparently in a bank account.

At what point are you going to return the missing $8 million to
the federal government?

[English]

Mr. Scott Baker: The process of returning those funds is being
guided by the government. In all honesty, if we could send it back
tomorrow, we would, but we have to follow the process as outlined
by ESDC, given that there was an agreement in place, and we're
going through the process of finalizing a termination agreement in
partnership with them.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: There's no process, but we're talking about
returning money that doesn't belong to you.
[English]

The Chair: Mr. Fortin, that was your last question, but I do be-
lieve, on this process business, a similar answer was given by
somebody in previous testimony. There is a process they had to fol-
low in returning the money.

Mr. Julian is next, and you'll be followed by Mr. Poilievre in the
second round.

Go ahead, Mr. Julian.

Mr. Peter Julian (New Westminster—Burnaby,
Thanks, Mr. Chair.

NDP):

Thanks to our witnesses for being here. We hope you stay safe
and healthy during this pandemic, and we appreciate your provid-
ing some answers, because there have been a lot of contradictions
through this saga.

Ms. Marquez, I have a number of questions for you around meet-
ings, if you don't mind. The first is, we've had testimony at this
committee from Minister Chagger testifying that on April 17 she
had a meeting with Craig Kielburger and a WE official.

Did you arrange that meeting and were you the other person on
that call?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I can confirm that I was on that call, in-
deed.

Mr. Peter Julian: Did you arrange the meeting as well?
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Could you let us know if the minister at that point informed you
and Mr. Kielburger about any details about what became the
CSSG?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Pardon me, could you repeat the question?
I couldn't hear it.

Mr. Peter Julian: Did the minister give you details about what
was to become the CSSG?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Not at all. There was no mention of the
Canada student service grant.

Mr. Peter Julian: The conversation was focused on what, then?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: The conversation at that point was within
the context of having already shared our social entrepreneurship
proposal. We had the opportunity to talk to the minister about the
current state of affairs of how WE as an organization was pivoting
many of its programs into a virtual setting and what we were seeing
on the ground in real time because of the pandemic. It was a combi-
nation of both of those things.

Mr. Peter Julian: On April 20 there was a call between WE and
finance department officials. Did you arrange that call and were
you present on that call?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I'm not sure which call you're referring to.

Mr. Peter Julian: It was on April 20, with the finance depart-
ment.

® (1535)

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I'm sorry, but I'm not entirely sure which
call you're referring to.

Mr. Peter Julian: I'm referring to the call on April 20. It was be-
tween WE and finance department officials. Were you aware of that
call at all? Were you briefed on it, if you weren't present on the
call?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: I'm not entirely sure at this point which call
you're referring to. My apologies.

Mr. Peter Julian: Okay, so in your call log you have nothing for
April 20.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: 1 would have to go back to my records to
make sure that my answer is accurate.

Mr. Peter Julian: Okay, thank you. If you could get back to us
on this, that would be great.

The second proposal from WE, submitted on April 21, was on
the CSSG. Do you know who drafted that proposal?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: The initial proposal for the Canada student
service grant was led and drafted by me and the team of strategists
at WE.

Mr. Peter Julian: Would it be fair to say.... If you're saying that
the call with Ms. Chagger didn't actually involve the CSSG, who
provided the information for drafting the submission of April 21?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Following the conversation that Craig Kiel-
burger and Rachel Wernick had on, I believe.... They had a conver-
sation, and following that conversation, Craig Kielburger called me
and provided me with very broad program parameters and guide-
lines on some of the questions and ideas he had received directly
from Rachel Wernick. They were looking for advice and guidance
as to how to implement a program of such a scale. Given the cur-

rent pandemic, it was very challenging to understand how they
could implement it potentially well.

Mr. Peter Julian: So you drafted that. It was sent to whom, on
April 21, in the federal government?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: That proposal was shared with various gov-
ernment departments.

Mr. Peter Julian: Do you recall exactly which ones, or did you
just send it in to one person and they shared it with other ministry
officials?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: We definitely would have shared it, as pub-
lic record has shown, with Minister Ng, Minister Chagger's office
and ESDC, as part of this whole conversation, as well as with the
Ministry of Finance.

Mr. Peter Julian: Would you be aware, as the head of govern-
ment relations, of all the times that Craig and Marc Kielburger
spoke with federal government officials and ministers? Was this
compiled somewhere within WE? Was that tracked?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: What I would be aware of is any conversa-
tions and meetings that Craig and I would have led at any point in
time. If the co-founders or any executive had any additional meet-
ings, I wouldn't necessarily be abreast of that information, but
eventually, with the way we would worked at WE, we would com-
municate effectively the latest and greatest information and activi-
ties that had been led by WE.

The Chair: You're a little over your time, Peter, but ask another
question.

Mr. Peter Julian: Thank you very much, Ms. Marquez.

My final question is for Ms. Al-Waheidi and Mr. Baker. Just to
follow up on two points you made earlier, who gave you the green
light for funding to start the process—you haven't answered that
question yet—and when did you register WE in the lobbyist reg-
istry?

Ms. Dalal Al-Wabheidi: In terms of the registration for the Lob-
bying Act, we did that. It was submitted today. That was done.

Again, I just want to say that if we had thought that was neces-
sary before, we would have done it. It would have occurred. I want-
ed to share that from a context perspective.

Mr. Peter Julian: What about the other question about the green
light?

Mr. Scott Baker: In all honestly, we never felt we had a full
green light until we had an agreement signed. However, we under-
stood that to deliver a program launched in mid-June would require
us to build that program in the months of May and June. We under-
took those efforts. When the contribution agreement was signed,
which is very standard, we did that.

® (1540)

The Chair: Okay. We will have to leave it there and go to Mr.
Poilievre, who will be followed by Ms. Dzerowicz. We're into five-
minute rounds.

Mr. Poilievre.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: What was the total amount that WE paid
for Ms. Sophie Grégoire Trudeau's accommodations and other ex-
penses in London this year?
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Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: It is my understanding that this informa-
tion will be provided as part of the undertaking by Marc and Craig
Kielburger.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did anyone in your organization have
communication with Ms. Sophie Grégoire Trudeau after March 15?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: No. We have not.
Hon. Pierre Poilievre: No one.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: To the best of my knowledge, no one
has had communication.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: What about with Nancy McCain?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: To the best of my knowledge, based on
my knowledge, I don't know.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Ms. Marquez, are you aware of any com-
munications with those persons from the WE organization?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: To the best of my knowledge, I do not
know of any communication directly with Sophie Grégoire
Trudeau.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: What about with Nancy McCain?
Ms. Sofia Marquez: With regard to Nancy McCain, no.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Okay.

Ms. Marquez, you had a call with PMO policy director Rick
Theis on March 5, which coincidentally was the same day that WE
began implementing the program. When you indicated that WE was
going to begin implementing the program on that day, did he tell
you that it was inappropriate because it had not yet been approved
by cabinet?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Truthfully, I wasn't aware at the time that
the contribution agreement or the contract was starting to be imple-
mented at that time. At no point in time did we ever have a conver-
sation about the implementation of the project. It was solely based
on understanding the current state of affairs of the proposal as it
was at that time, just briefing them on that.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: However, at that time, you, as an organi-
zation, were implementing the proposal—on that day, in fact. You
spoke for 30 minutes with the PMO and nothing came up about that
implementation.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Again, allow me to clarify and specifically
address your question. I was not aware of the contract's being im-
plemented at that time. The conversation was not around the imple-
mentation of such a project.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Okay, so, this would become a $500-mil-
lion contribution agreement. Your organization is implementing it
on that day. You're talking with the Prime Minister's Office, the of-
fice of the head of government, and nothing came up in that call
about the fact that your organization was beginning to implement it
that day.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: From what I recall from that conversation,
again, we walked him through the latest proposal development and
all the details behind what would have become the Canada student
service grant, but there were no specific conversations about start-
ing the project. I know that within the context of the pandemic,
honestly, in every single conversation there was this urge to try to

get this program moving forward, to be up and ready as soon as
possible. Now, that was it.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: You didn't mention to him and he didn't
mention to you that you guys were beginning to implement the pro-
gram at that time. Okay.

Mr. Baker, did you, as an organization, conclude an agreement
with National Public Relations?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: To the best of my knowledge, we have
concluded that work because of the—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: No, I mean, was there ever a deal signed
or put in place between WE and National Public Relations?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: 1 will have to get back to you on this
one, because my role with the National PR—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Mr. Baker, do you know?
Mr. Scott Baker: Thank you for the question.
I don't know if there was an agreement signed. I do know that

National PR was one of the many vendors that we were looking to
engage to be able to scale the program across the country.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: You had not finalized anything with
them?

Mr. Scott Baker: I was not part of the conversation with Nation-
al, so I can't comment on that.

The Chair: You're down to 30 seconds, Pierre.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: We'll need you to follow up with that in-
formation.

Who was the highest-paid speaker that you engaged as WE be-
tween 2015 and 2019?
® (1545)

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: As shared in the testimonies by the co-
founders before, and as we pay for speaker—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Yes, just the highest-paid person.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Mr. Chair, I'm trying hard to answer the
question if he can give me the courtesy of just [Technical difficul-
ty—Editor]

The Chair: Go ahead and answer.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Thank you.

We pay for ancillary events for some of these speakers. It is my
understanding that we need to look through our files. I'm not going

to be able to provide you any of them at this point because there is
privacy with these contracts.

The Chair: You can have a very quick question, Mr. Poilievre.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Was Margaret Trudeau paid in any way,
shape or form in relation to the 2017 Canada 150 celebration or for
any ancillary event approximately around the same date?

The Chair: That wasn't exactly a short one—
Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Yes or no?

The Chair: —but go ahead, Ms. Al-Waheidi.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Yes, [ am going to answer you. No, she
was not.
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The Chair: Thanks, all of you.

Ms. Dzerowicz, you're next.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz (Davenport, Lib.): Thank you so much,
Mr. Chair.

I want to say a huge thank you to all three of you for presenting
today.

Thank you so much for sharing your story, Ms. Al-Waheidi.

I want to thank all of you for all the work you do to inspire and
engage youth across Canada and around the world.

The May 5th.... I just want to remind everybody on the commit-
tee that I specifically asked the Kielburgers this question. Why was
work started? They have very clearly indicated that there was no
agreement. There was no one who told them to start the agreement.
They had taken it as a risk upon themselves because they wanted to
help students. They understood that there was no agreement, but
they decided to go ahead and start working on it. They were very
clear with this committee. I want to make sure that is reiterated to
everyone here.

My first question is about the WE Charity Foundation. There
was some testimony THAT indicated that the reason there was an
agreement not with WE Charity but with the WE Charity Founda-
tion was that the government had asked the WE Charity to take on
all the liability of this program. It was the lawyers of WE Charity
who said that in order for WE Charity to be able to do that, they
recommended that the agreement be signed with WE Charity Foun-
dation.

My understanding is that this is a very typical thing that is done
to cover liabilities, within both the public and private industry. Can
you please comment? Is that what your understanding is as well?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Yes. This is correct in terms of how we
were asked by the government to take the liability of up to 40,000
volunteers during a pandemic. In consultation with experts in the
area and including our board of directors, we had discussions with
our board of directors in terms of the liability that the organization
would take, and it was also their recommendation and their ap-
proval that the contract be with WE Charity Foundation.

The Chair: Julie, I'll just interrupt for a second on the next two
people on the question list. We will have Mr. Poilievre again, and
then we'll wrap up with Mr. McLeod. I'm sorry. Go ahead.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: My next question is about the board of di-
rectors. We did hear that there was a changeover, a significant one.
I believe it was in March. to what extent did that impact your oper-
ations and/or your ability to deliver on the CSSG program?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: There was no negative implication, be-
cause we've always had competent, dedicated board members who
govern the organization. A third of our board continued their ser-
vice. Within the organization, we have eight individuals who are
from a variety of backgrounds, from accounting, to legal, to educa-
tion. There was no impact. Their governance was really important
in the process and to the extent about the conversation with WE
Charity Foundation.... I just wanted to share that. Their oversight
continued, and we're very proud of our board members.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Was this mentioned, the sort of
changeover in the board? Was it mentioned at any point to the bu-
reaucrats as you were negotiating the contribution agreement?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We answered in a transparent way every
question that was asked of us, and we provided the information.

® (1550)

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: Did you feel you had to give that informa-
tion about the change in the board, or did you feel, because there
was no impact on operations, that you didn't have to offer that in-
formation?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: We had competent board members, and
we're thankful to all the board members for their contributions, but
there was no impact. We answered all the questions that were asked
of us. All the information pertaining to our board members and
their bios is on our website; it's publicly available.

Ms. Julie Dzerowicz: We heard from Rachel Wernick and from
ESDC that the department's recommendation was that a contribu-
tion agreement be signed with WE Charity to mobilize other not-
for-profit partners as the best available option, given the require-
ment for speed, scope and scale, and to reach a broad diversity of
youth. What was the extent of your knowledge as to why the de-
partment entered into a contribution agreement with WE?

Mr. Scott Baker: In terms of the process determining that it
should be a contribution agreement, I would have to refer it to the
government. We were proud to be asked. As a Canadian organiza-
tion, born and raised, with experience coast to coast, engaging
7,000 schools, we wanted to be helpful in the middle of a global
pandemic and support students, many of whom had participated in
our programs, who were struggling to find jobs, to pay rent, to pay
tuition, etc. So we said yes, we would do this.

The Chair: Mr. Poilievre, for five minutes, and then Mr.
McLeod to wrap it up.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: It's an incredible coincidence that your
organization has suddenly registered to lobby all of these months
after all the lobbying happened. We look forward to examining the
dozens of meetings that you had, including with high-level political
officials close to Justin Trudeau. Your organization had paid his
family half a million dollars.

Specifically, I want to speak about Laura Lebel. Ms. Marquez,
you said you communicated with Ms. Laura Lebel. Was it an email
you sent?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Yes, that's correct. It was a simple email
asking for a brief call. I've never met Ms. Lebel before.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did she grant that call?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, she didn't. She directed me to Rick
Theis.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: That's how this 30-minute phone call
happened with Rick on the day that WE began implementing the
program, is that correct?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: That's correct.
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Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did you mention the possibility of a con-
tribution agreement, or some sort of contract that WE could sign
with the government?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: Are you asking if | implied that there was a
contract in the works?

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did that come up in the conversation at
all?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: We just discussed the current proposal as it
was. There was no conversation about a contract itself.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: What about a start date, did that ever
come up?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: The start date was something that was con-
tinuously being pushed. The government was trying to get it up and
running as soon as possible. On the WE side, we were doing our
best to also gear up toward whatever timeline was necessary from
government. There was no exact start date, to my understanding of
anything.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: You did discuss the issue of a start date
with the policy director?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, we did not discuss any start date, per
se.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: You said you were discussing the need to
get it up and running fast, and your organization was launching the
same day.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: The context, again, is that we shared the
latest proposal, which we had been working very closely with ES-
DC public servants. It was a briefing on the state of affairs of the
current state of the proposal itself. There was no communication,
nor details—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did he ask you for the briefing?

The Chair: Just let her finish her answer, because she has time
left, Mr. Poilievre.

Mrs. Marquez.

Ms. Sofia Marquez: There was no communication or specificity
being discussed around contract details whatsoever, or dates.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did he ask for this briefing from you?
® (1555)

Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, like I mentioned, this was by introduc-
tion through Laura Lebel.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: So you just started shopping around a
briefing to the PMO, saying, “I'd like to brief someone in the Prime
Minister's Office. Can someone take my call?” Is that right?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, that is not an accurate representation of
what happened. As part of the conversations that we were having at
the time with ESDC as well as all the proposal development phases
that we were under, it was suggested to me by a political staffer at
the Ministry of Finance that I connect with the PMO along with
other ministries to make sure that everyone was abreast of the latest
and greatest version of the proposal as, again, the context was
COVID-19. It needed to be up and running as soon as possible, and
they wanted to make sure that everyone was well aware of—

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: So, the finance department sent you to
the PMO. Who in the finance department told you to call the PMO?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: It was suggested to me by Amit Singh.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: It was Amit Singh. Okay.

How much time do I have, Chair?
The Chair: You have about 40 seconds.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Did you have any information about the
communications that WE had directly with Bill Morneau?

Ms. Sofia Marquez: What communication are you referring to?
I'm sorry.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Mr. Kielburger and Mr. Morneau spoke.
Ms. Sofia Marquez: 1 didn't have that context, no.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: You didn't know that had happened?
Ms. Sofia Marquez: No, I did not have that context.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Finally, back to Mr. Baker, can you tell
me why the contribution agreement was backdated specifically to
May 5? I'm not interested in knowing why it was backdated gener-
ally; I know how that works, but why was that specific date, May 5,
picked for the backdating?

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: I'm just going to jump in here, if I may.

During this week, there were multiple conversations about pro-
gram design, and WE, as an organization, had taken the risk to start
working on this because the scope of the project kept on changing.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Why was it May 5?

The Chair: You're done, Pierre. We're going to have an answer
to the question, because you're well over time, and then Mr.
McLeod will wrap it up. I hope the guests will stay for three more
minutes.

Go ahead, Ms. Al-Waheidi.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: Yes, I answered the question. I'm fin-
ished, Mr. Chair.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: What's your point of order?

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: The question was: Why May 5? I'm just
wondering if you can ask the witness to answer that question. Why
was it that date?

The Chair: It's not a point of order, but if you could further ex-
pand on why it was May 5, go ahead, Ms. Al-Waheidi.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: It's the same answer. We had started
generally that week to work on the program design, the operation
and what would that look like. The scope kept on changing. Time-
lines were aggressive. That week, we started mobilizing to work,
and we took, as an organization, the risk because we wanted to help
students, and we believed in the essence of the program.

The Chair: Thank you, all.

Mr. McLeod, you'll wrap it up.
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For our witnesses, we will go about four minutes over your hour.

Go ahead, Mr. McLeod.

Mr. Michael McLeod (Northwest Territories, Lib.): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you to the witnesses. I appreciate all the responses to the
questions that have been provided. A lot of the questions are start-
ing to become repetitive.

My concern continues to be that this program was created to de-
liver $900 million to support students. The future of those funds is
unclear, now that the program has not been implemented, and it's a
huge loss of opportunity for the youth across our country.

My first question is about a July 3, 2020 news article. The editor-
in-chief of The Charity Report stated that WE Charity has connec-
tions to “18,000 schools in Canada, the U.S. and the UK” making it
“Canada's largest youth” network; however, “WE does not have
those kinds of relationships with other non-profit organizations and
charities” necessary to find placements for youth.

How effective would a charitable or non-profit organization such
as WE Charity have been in recruiting and finding placements for
student volunteers?

Mr. Scott Baker: As shared, we do have a national presence.
We've worked with schools and the educational community across
the country. In addition to that, we've been able to form partner-
ships with other not-for-profits because our program is actually
very inclusive. The students in our program, in the WE schools and
WE Day program, actually support other organizations. As a result
of that, we have been able to form partnerships, over our history,
with a number of not-for-profits.

That being said, we also recognized that to be able to place up to
40,000 students, we needed to build a strong community. We built a
team that began having those conversations so that when the pro-
gram launched, we would be able to place them in not-for-profits in
a smooth way that would be a good experience for the volunteer
and an impactful, positive experience for the not-for-profit.

® (1600)
Mr. Michael McLeod: Thank you.

My next question is in regard to the $8 million that remains out-
standing and is to be reimbursed. Could you tell us why this has not
been paid? Why wasn't this paid along with the other portion of
money you reimbursed? I'm sure there are people from ESDC
watching, and maybe they need to hear this.

Mr. Scott Baker: In the same way that the contribution agree-
ment was a process that took time, the ending of the contract is a
process that takes time. That is being governed primarily by the
government, and we are following that process. I can assure you
and all Canadians that those funds are in a bank institution. They
will be returned as soon as possible as long as we have all the
agreements in place so that there are no issues.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: If [ may add to that, we have waived, as
an organization, all of our eligible expenditures, which is part of the
contribution agreement, because we want to return all the money as
soon as possible. We are taking the risk and we're taking the hit as
an organization.

I just wanted to share that as a point of context.

The Chair: Michael, obviously ESDC isn't as quick to take
money as the CRA is. We know that experience.

Go ahead, Mr. McLeod.

Mr. Michael McLeod: I have one more question. This has been
asked before, but I think it's important that everybody is clear on
this situation.

I want you to confirm that the expenses incurred before the CA
was signed were at WE's own risk. Can you tell us a little bit about
why you would take that risk? It's a lot of money.

Mr. Scott Baker: You are correct; we had an intentional conver-
sation and understood that there would be some risk in the process.

The truth is that we believed deeply in the program and we want-
ed to play a role in a very difficult time for Canadians. We were ex-
cited about the challenge. We were very proud of the program that
launched. We were very proud of the fact that 35,000 students reg-
istered within the first 10 days, as Ms. Al-Waheidi shared, 65% of
whom were from visible minorities.

We were asked to do this. It's a Canadian charity, born and raised
in Canada. We proudly took that step and moved forward with it.

The Chair: We will have to end it there.

On behalf of the committee—
Hon. Pierre Poilievre: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: I want to release the witnesses, but I will allow a
point of order.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: I'm just wondering if the witnesses might
volunteer to give us another half an hour of their time.

The Chair: I will ask the witnesses. The clerk had asked them
carlier, and they were limited to the one hour, but we'll ask the wit-
nesses what their opinion is here.

Go ahead, Ms. Al-Wabheidi.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: I do appreciate the request. We wanted
to come here to be helpful and provide answers. We have child care
duties, and I hope you understand that. I need to attend to those. 1
hope you understand this.

Thank you.



12 FINA-51

August 13, 2020

The Chair: We understand. We had one of our members on here
originally starting off the meeting with child care duties.

With that, I want to thank you for appearing before the commit-
tee and answering our questions. Just personally, I do want to wish
you well in what I know are very stressful times. It doesn't matter if
you're a business, a charity, a farm or a fisherman; when you're go-
ing through strenuous times on the financial end, sometimes due to
things beyond your control, it's very stressful. We understand that
and we wish you well in that regard.

With that, we will—
® (1605)
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: A point of order, Mr. Chair.
[English]

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Fortin.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Before the witnesses leave, could you ask them when they are
going to meet the commitments they made during this meeting?

I noted, among others things that I had to obtain the names of
employees in Quebec and the percentage of time spent lobbying.
I'm wondering when they are going to meet those commitments.

[English]

The Chair: There were several items that were noted that they
committed to get back to us on, so the more haste to get back to us
on that information the better, if I could say that to the witnesses.
We need that information as soon as possible. We have a document

that we're waiting to be translated and redacted right now, and we
would like all that information as quickly as possible.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Can a deadline be set or the witnesses asked
how soon they think they can provide us with the information?

[English]

The Chair: Mrs. Al-Waheidi.

Ms. Dalal Al-Waheidi: I'm writing down all the requests, and
we will do this as soon as possible. I can't give you a timeline right

now, but we're committed to this process in order to provide this in-
formation as soon as possible.

The Chair: We will also ask the analysts to make a note of the
request for information that you were asked. I made a note of a few,
and we'll get that to you as well, so nothing is missed on your end.
We don't expect you to keep tight notes of all the requests.

Thank you very much for your presentation.

We will suspend for three or four minutes to bring on our next
panel.

¢ (1609 (Pause)

® (1610)

The Chair: I recall the meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 51, panel two of the House of Com-
mons Standing Committee on Finance. We're meeting on govern-
ment spending, WE Charity and the Canada student service grant.

With us this afternoon for the next hour, we have John-Frederick
Cameron, chief executive officer at Katimavik. We've had you be-
fore as a witness. I believe you have an opening statement, and we
will go from there.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron (Chief Executive Officer, Kati-
mavik): Thank you, Mr. Chairman and honourable members.

Upon receipt of your request to participate in your inquiry and to
attend today's hearing, though I do not have any direct knowledge
of some aspects of your inquiry, our organization, Katimavik, takes
the view that a publicly funded organization, as we are, and a recip-
ient of taxpayer dollars, should respect the request of any parlia-
mentary committee. In that spirit, I am pleased to be here with you
today, albeit virtually.

Our organization brings a very unique perspective to what has
become a meaningful and important national conversation. Kati-
mavik has been at the very centre of that spirit of youth volun-
teerism since its founding in 1977. Through a model based on expe-
riential learning and through our flagship program, the Katimavik
national experience, young Canadians are encouraged to embrace
diversity, become active and engaged citizens and evolve into lead-
ers and change-makers in their communities.

As this program did in the seventies, eighties, nineties and today,
we bring young Canadians together who may not yet have found
their fit in society. From a diversity of backgrounds and experi-
ences, we introduce them to their country and their country to them.
They explore parts of our great country that they likely have not
seen before, and they form a collective in a sense.

Katimavik today has evolved from being primarily a bridge be-
tween what was referred to at the time of its founding as “the two
solitudes”, referencing the divide between English and French
Canadians at that time. Today, the diversity among our youth is
broad, with some representing different religions and cultural back-
grounds, some from the LGBTQ2+ community, and very impor-
tantly, some youth from indigenous communities. They live togeth-
er, learn together, play together, serve together and they bond to-
gether.
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In doing so, the differences and prejudices they had perceived
between each other prior to the program disappear and they form
lifelong friendships. They become advocates for truth and reconcil-
iation with indigenous communities. As importantly, they develop
life skills and employment skills through this program.

We place these phenomenal youth in communities where they
volunteer with non-profits and charitable community organizations
and thereby contribute to building those communities. They learn
about and embrace the priorities of the different regions of our
country as youth from the east travel to western communities and
vice versa. Through that journey, they very often find themselves
and become active and engaged citizens.

They come into our program often not being very confident, and
some not so sure what to do with their lives and how to contribute.
They leave our program with a renewed sense of confidence, self-
aware and committed to becoming contributing members of soci-
ety. Their love for this great country is enhanced, and we are better
off as a result.

I am so very proud to be able to share with you that despite the
COVID-19 pandemic, our participants volunteered with local orga-
nizations across the country. In fact, for decades, Canada's young
people have enthusiastically and wholeheartedly volunteered their
time and effort for the betterment of the greater society.

The fact remains that Canadian youth were undeterred by the ob-
stacles brought forth by a global pandemic, instead focusing on
how they could give back to the country while strictly adhering to
all health guidelines and protocols. In so doing, they demonstrated
tremendous bravery. Their contributions through our program in-
cluded activities such as picking up garbage in their neighbour-
hoods, making artwork for their communities, contributing to food
security initiatives, talking to socially isolated seniors and deliver-
ing groceries to Canadians in need.

We saw this first-hand, since in just the first two months of the
pandemic, young Canadians participating in Katimavik's national
experience program volunteered nearly 7,000 hours in total. They
also inspired hundreds of others to follow their lead and make an
impact of their own.

® (1615)

Furthermore, the degree of their enthusiasm and commitment
was demonstrated when, this summer, Katimavik received almost
four times more applications than opportunities available for the
national experience cohort that began in July. We were both
stunned and elated that so many fearless and inspiring young Cana-
dians from around the country responded and applied to volunteer
with community organizations from coast to coast to coast.

As Canadians face our new realities as a result of COVID-19 and
its longer term implications, we have come to terms with the fact
that our world has experienced transformative changes. Some of
these changes have already created division among us as we debate
how to confront these new challenges. Every aspect of our lives,
from how we eat to where we work, to what we wear, looks differ-
ent. While many aspects of our country seem unrecognizable from
a few short months ago, and as so many things we took for granted
disappear, it is truly inspiring to remember that one constant has

prevailed: Canadian youth and their commitment to building a bet-
ter country.

In our opinion, the proposed Canada student service grant pro-
gram was and is an innovative way to assist students who were fac-
ing the elimination of job opportunities. At the same time, this pro-
gram sought to leverage the tremendous spirit of volunteerism in
support of non-profits across the country. The opportunity provided
by the proposed program to mobilize even more young Canadians
to volunteer for many causes, some directly affected by COVID-19,
and thereby simultaneously contribute to their education, is, in our
view, an honourable and valuable goal.

Given our organization's commitment to youth empowerment, it
would not surprise you that we were and remain strong supporters
of the proposed program. We were therefore delighted to be asked
to contribute to the program by doing simply what is in our Kati-
mavik DNA: connecting Canadian youth with non-profit and chari-
table organization placements across our great country.

Through this pandemic, Canadian youth have led and will con-
tinue to lead the way, if we continue to provide them the opportuni-
ties to do so. Katimavik can attest to the fact that they have already
demonstrated the capacity, courage and bravery necessary. Our
hope is that Canadians will continue to support, encourage and em-
power them.

In closing, on behalf of Katimavik's board of directors and our
staff team, we thank Canadians for their ongoing support and are
grateful for the support provided through the federal government,
and to all members of Parliament who have supported this impor-
tant work since our founding in 1977 and up to today. It is an hon-
our to sit before you today.

We appreciate the opportunity to share this information with you.
Thank you.

® (1620)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Cameron. I had neglect-
ed to give the speaking order before you started. We're starting with
Mr. Cooper, followed by Mr. Fragiskatos, then Mr. Fortin, and then
Mr. Julian.

Mr. Cooper, you're up.

Mr. Michael Cooper (St. Albert—Edmonton, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair. I will be splitting my time with Mr. Morantz. When
three minutes come up, cut me off.

The Chair: All right.
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Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you, Mr. Cameron, for being here.

Did I hear you correctly that Katimavik is involved in or was in-
volved in the administration of the CSSG?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We were invited to participate
through a partnership arrangement.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Could you provide some details of what
that arrangement was?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It was a fairly detailed agree-
ment, which I'm happy to share with the committee if you'd like.
Essentially, it mapped out our role. It was provided to us through a
telephone conversation with WE Charity executives. We were
asked to participate in attracting some of our alumni, some of our
youth cohorts that we had run and were running, who happened to
be students and who might be eligible for the program. The partner-
ship agreement spelled out, for lack of a better word, the terms of
how we would do that and what we needed to provide to WE Char-
ity.

Mr. Michael Cooper: The agreement was entered into. There
was a formal agreement that had been entered into.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: There was a formal agreement
that had been presented to us. We asked for a number of amend-
ments. We were back and forth quite a few times on the amend-
ments. In fact, by the time we got to the signing day, it was an-
nounced that the program would not be forthcoming.

Mr. Michael Cooper: When were you contacted by WE, or
when was Katimavik contacted?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I would say it was towards the
end of May, around May 26.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Your agreement had been more or less fi-
nalized by when?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It was by the end of June.

Mr. Michael Cooper: If you could undertake to provide the
committee with a copy of that agreement, it would be helpful.

Could you elaborate on the scope of the activities that Katimavik
would be involved in?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes. Essentially, as you know,
we link youth volunteers with charitable placements across the
country. When were invited to participate through this partnership,
it was said at the time that, because we had access to a number of
placements across Canada in non-profit and charitable organiza-
tions, and also had access to youth volunteers, this was essentially
the nature of our work. It was about using those opportunities and
names.

The Chair: This is your last question, Michael.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Was Katimavik at any time invited to
make a proposal to administer the CSSG?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, we were not.

The Chair: Mr. Morantz.

Mr. Marty Morantz (Charleswood—St. James—Assiniboia—
Headingley, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'1l just follow up on that line of questioning.

Your organization is part of the Canada service corps. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: That's correct.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Did ESDC ever reach out to your organi-
zation to discuss what you could do in terms of programming in the
COVID context?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I recall a phone conversation,
although I don't remember the date exactly, during which ESDC in-
dicated that they were going to be using a third party to launch a
program in support of students and that various organizations with-
in the CSC would be contacted to play a role. At that time, in that
call, I wasn't aware or told what organization it was. I learned that
later.

Mr. Marty Morantz: [ have a record of that call. It was on April
15. What did you say they told you? Was it that different organiza-
tions in CSC would be contacted to assist in providing the CSSG?
Is that what you said?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I said it was in supporting the
work of the CSSG and participating in different ways. The plan on-
ly became clear to me when we were contacted by WE Charity di-
rectly, essentially.

® (1625)

Mr. Marty Morantz: That call, though, being on April 15,
would have been seven days before the Prime Minister announced
the CSSG and several weeks before it came to cabinet. Was the
CSSG explicitly mentioned in that call to you by ESDC?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No. I should say, Mr. Morantz,
that I'm not sure the date you referenced is the date of the call that
I'm recalling. I'm sorry, but I don't remember the date of the call
that I was on.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Could you check that and get back to the
committee?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Sure. Did I answer your second
question?

Mr. Marty Morantz: Sure.

Just out of curiosity, do you believe that the WE organization
was the only organization in Canada, outside of the public service,
that could have provided the CSSG, given the number of really
large and impressive charities in Canada, like, for example, the
YMCA and others?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I've heard comments made that
WE Charity was the only charity that had the capacity to deliver it.
I think I would create a distinction with respect to capacity versus
infrastructure. A number of charities across Canada.... I mean, at
Katimavik this is what we do. We place volunteers with charitable
organizations.

Mr. Marty Morantz: I have limited time. I have one quick last
question.

The Chair: Make it the last question.
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Mr. Marty Morantz: I'll go back to the subcontract that you
were negotiating and almost got signed. What was the dollar
amount of the contract that you would have entered into with WE
Charity or WE Charity Foundation?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: At the time we were told that it
would be $25,000 for the first 100 youth entered into the program
through Katimavik. It was up to a maximum of $50,000 if we were
able to provide another 100.

Mr. Marty Morantz: Okay. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you. I believe you're on the list for a little lat-
er, Marty.

We'll have Mr. Fragiskatos, followed by Mr. Fortin.

Peter.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos (London North Centre, Lib.): Thank
you, Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Cameron, for your testimony.

In your experience and the experience of the organization, cer-
tainly running large programs.... As I think you put it, this is what
you do as an organization. You connect volunteers with opportuni-
ties that are available. I want to know about administration costs in
the public domain. Because of what happened with WE, they would
have been paid, as you know, a maximum of $43.5 million to build
and administer the program.

On the face of it, I think the average Canadian hears that and
might have some questions about why programs cost so much to
build and administer. Do you have any thoughts on that?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It's an expensive activity at
times to safely engineer a program where you're moving young
people from community to community, and the cost attached to that
through travel and through housing is expensive. It can be expen-
sive.

On the program's specific cost, I have no comment to make on
whether that was an appropriate amount of money. I would have
to—

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: I'm not asking you that. No, it would be
unfair to ask you that. I'm asking a general question about adminis-
trative costs that are incurred by organizations such as yours to
build up programs and oversee them. It's not an inexpensive thing.
You're saying that it's very costly.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, and administrative costs as
a percentage of program costs in the sector usually run anywhere
between 10% to 20%, given the charity, to answer your question.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Okay, thank you very much.

The Canada student service grant program as envisioned—and |
agree with you—was innovative on paper. There was a great deal of
promise and potential there. It does not look like it will go ahead.
There is money on the table as a result, up to $500 million. In your
view, as someone whose life's work is focused on youth, do you
have thoughts or ideas on what government should do with respect
to that money and how it can invest it in youth or in other areas?
Do you have any perspectives on that?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: The scope and the focus of this
particular program, as I said in my opening, is something that we
very much believe in, because obviously students have been dis-
placed from jobs that they would need to continue their education.

First of all, I would say that it's unfortunate, because I think we
don't want to see an entire generation of youth delay their post-sec-
ondary education and, therefore, delay unnecessarily their entry in-
to the job market for a year or two.

Katimavik did write the minister a letter to say that one of the
things that we were proposing we consider, as a country, going for-
ward, is that some people might argue that university-educated
youth or post-secondary education students are somewhat privi-
leged. They can afford to go to school, they have some benefits to
help them to do that, or they are eligible for grants. However,
there's a whole subset of other youth for whom I think this was a
wonderful opportunity to enter into training, those who, otherwise,
would not have had the chance or have conceived that they had the
opportunity to do that. Therefore, we could more broadly serve a
larger segment of young people.

That is what I would say around doing a better job in terms of
this particular initiative.

® (1630)

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you very much.

I have a couple of minutes remaining, but I'll leave it with one
question. I think it's a very important one.

Because of some of the challenges that have arisen here.... Let's
make no mistake, while the program as envisioned held a great deal
of potential, there were mistakes made in the execution. I think
that's very fair to say at this point. As a result, for Canadian citizens
looking at this and thinking about the government's ability to help
fund youth service opportunities in the future, there could be some
hesitation on the part of citizens when it comes to that.

Do you have any thoughts on what you would say about the im-
portance of youth service and the need for federal governments,
this one and ones in the future, to continue to look to cultivate that,
champion it and fund it?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, absolutely. What I would
say is that the results speak for themselves. As I mentioned in my
opening statement, these young people who leave programs like
ours were previously unaware as to how they could contribute and
find ways to do so. They leave these programs with a tremendous
sense of renewed confidence, very self-aware of who they are and
committed to the next stage of their journey.

It's up to us, I think, organizations like ours to also provide....
This is where I would say—just to get back to your previous ques-
tion for a minute—there's an opportunity to do some more with any
residual money that is there that could be invested to provide job
skills training and employment training.
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Take that exercise of investing in them and building up their con-
fidence, building up their self-esteem, confronting whatever issues
they have in their life that they're facing...and as you can imagine,
there are a lot of mental health challenges. I know you're aware of
this in terms of youth in general. As we confront that, the second
part of that job is essentially to position them for a working life.
The investment, I think, will speak for itself, because we already
see that seven out of 10, just broadly speaking, who come from a
multitude of these programs, change their lives around in a very
successful way and go on to contribute to society.

The Chair: We'll have to move to Mr. Fortin, who will be fol-
lowed by Mr. Julian.

Mr. Fortin.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, Mr. Cameron. Thank you for being here.
I'm not sure I understood your answer to the following question.

Do you think Katimavik could have managed the grant program
we're talking about now?

[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I would say to you that we have
the knowledge and the capacity to have participated in the manage-
ment of the program. I believe that for a program like this to suc-
ceed, it would have had to have been a collaborative effort, leverag-
ing the expertise that some charities and some non-profits bring in
terms of the placement and the development of the cohorts and
managing that whole exercise.

The other part of it is that we wouldn't have had an infrastructure
like a web portal that could be up and running in two weeks. I'll be
a little flippant. I hope you don't mind if I say this. If somebody
came to us with a sound investment and said that we had two or
three months and they were going to invest a good degree of funds
with us, could we have developed that capacity relatively quickly? I
would say, yes, we would, but I wouldn't say, even if that were the
case, that it would have been a smart, efficient way to do it, rather
than bringing together a collaboration of charities that specialize in
this area.

® (1635)
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: It's a bit like what WE Charity wanted to do
by subcontracting to Katimavik or other organizations. It's sort of
the same thing.

If I understand correctly, you would have done something simi-
lar, right?
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, we would have formed a
collaboration, but of course our emphasis would have been on orga-
nizations that excel and have the expertise in volunteer placements.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Right.

Do you think Youth Service Canada could have done the same
work? Could it have delivered this contract instead of WE Charity?

[English]
Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Are you referring to ESDC?
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: That's right. I'm talking about Youth Service
Canada.

[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I'm not sufficiently aware of
their capacity, to answer that question.

[Translation)

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Do you think organizations other than WE
Charity and Katimavik could have carried out this contract?

[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: As I said before, I think a num-
ber of other charities—and we're blessed as a country to have so
many non-profits that are skilled in this area—could have come to-
gether and delivered the program, leveraging each other's expertise.

Il try to speed this up so that I don't take up your time. Not all of
us possess necessarily the same infrastructure, but we possess dif-
ferent levels of capacity. On the capacity side, I would say, yes, we
could have, but we would have needed an organization that had the
infrastructure in place to use the portal in an execution framework.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Cameron.

I don't want to rush you, but you know that the time we have in
committee is limited.

Does Katimavik have facilities in Quebec?
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Our head office is in Quebec,
yes, and we run programs in Quebec.

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: As I understand it, you have employees who
speak French, and the entire francophone infrastructure is in place
in Quebec.

If you had been asked to manage the grant program in Quebec,
would you have been able to do so?
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, we have the capacity to do
that.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you.
To your knowledge, would other organizations with facilities in

Quebec have been able to deliver the program in French in Quebec,
aside from Katimavik?

[English]
Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, there are.



August 13, 2020

FINA-51 17

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: How many do you think there are?
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I would be happy to provide
you a list of the ones that I think have that specialization.

[Translation]
Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Cameron.

We would be grateful if you could provide us with this list.

You told us earlier that the management fees usually associated
with a program are in the range of 10% to 20%.

This would vary greatly depending on the type of administration
you need to do. Is that correct?
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, you're correct.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: In this case, if you had to house students, pay
for travel, meals and equipment, it would probably cost you a lot
more than if your job was just to organize the structure. For exam-
ple, if your job was just to tell one person that they would go to one
place and another person that they would go to a different place, I
would imagine that would be much less expensive in terms of ad-
ministration costs. Is that correct?

[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: If you were finding youth to at-
tach to placements in the communities in which they lived, then of
course, yes, there would not have been increased costs for housing.

The Chair: We will be on to the last question here, Mr. Fortin.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin:
Mr. Cameron.

I have one last question for you,

Are you familiar with the communications firm NATIONAL?
Did that firm communicate with you in the course of managing the
grant program?

[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Did you say the firm was just
called National? Is that the name of the firm?

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Yes.
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, I'm not aware.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: You're not familiar with the communications
firm NATIONAL?

[English]

The Chair: Does that answer your question, Mr. Fortin, or do
you want clarification?

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: I don't think the witness understood my ques-
tion, Mr. Chair. I'm also having computer issues.

WE Charity awarded a contract to the communications firm NA-
TIONAL to handle the Quebec and francophone portion of the pro-
gram. ['d like to know whether NATIONAL contacted Katimavik to
offer to run part of the program.

® (1640)
[English]

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, we were not.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you, Mr. Cameron.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you very much.
We will go to Mr. Julian, followed by Mr. Morantz.

Mr. Julian.

Mr. Peter Julian: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Cameron, for being here today. I hope that you
and your loved ones are safe and healthy throughout this pandemic.

The first question I want to ask is with regard to one of the most
controversial aspects of this scandal: the violation of teachers'
codes of ethics. There's a payment that was set up as part of this ap-
proach that basically was an incentive for teachers to violate two of
the key aspects of the code of ethics. I'll read from the B.C. Teach-
ers' Federation's Code of Ethics. It says that teachers must respect
“the confidential nature of information concerning students and
[can only] give it...to authorized persons...directly concerned with
their welfare”, and that teachers must refrain “from exploiting that
relationship for material...advantage.”

Given the subagreement with WE, are you confident that, in
terms of Katimavik students, there wasn't a violation of privacy
rights or a violation of any ethical codes? In other words, was there
a bit of a firewall in the Katimavik contract that was different from
the concerns that had been expressed about the general approach of
this scheme?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes. Mr. Julian, Thank you.

In fact, one of the amendments that we requested through those
negotiations was to build that firewall. We wanted to ensure that the
information of our youth, our stakeholders, our alumni and others
remained confidential, and that we could develop a path through
which we could protect that confidentiality as it was delivered
through the program.

Mr. Peter Julian: Thank you for that. I'm glad you stepped for-
ward to at least carve off that portion of the program.
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Second, you've indicated that the incentive, or the administrative
fee, was $25,000 for the first hundred youth and $50,000 if you re-
cruited 200 youth. Was it based on a $250 payment per student, or
was it like the program itself. Basically, if you didn't hit that thresh-
old, you didn't get any of the funding underneath, which people
have raised concerns about in terms of violating labour standards
and also minimum wage laws?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I don't think the formula was
shared with us at that time. Essentially, we were basically offered
this: If we could deliver a hundred youth into the program, we
would be able to access $25,000.

By the way, that wasn't necessarily articulated as an administra-
tive fee, but it was certainly a project expense fee. In order for Kati-
mavik to do that work, that would be the fee that it would benefit
from. Then, if we were able to get up to 200 more, it would be to a
maximum of $50,000.

However, I don't know that we ever talked about if we had 150,
for instance, whether that was a sliding scale in terms of what the
charity would benefit from in terms of that amount.

Mr. Peter Julian: You'll be able to share the contract with us. Is
that right?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes.

Mr. Peter Julian: It may be in the wording throughout that con-
tract. It may be in the “lawyer language”.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Very true.

Mr. Peter Julian: You mentioned in response to questions from
Mr. Fortin that you are unaware of National's being involved. Were
you aware.... | know Katimavik. I have worked with Katimavik stu-
dents. There's a fierce adherence to bilingualism across the country.
Were you aware that the WE scheme actually didn't provide ser-
vices in Quebec and wasn't going to provide bilingual services for
francophones?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, I was not aware of that. Al-
though Katimavik, if the program had been executed, certainly
would have been attracting our cohort members from within and
without Quebec. No one ever had a conversation with me to say
that wasn't going to be permitted. It was basically that if you have
the placements, you have the youth and you can link them together,
then those youth would benefit as long as they fit the criteria.

® (1645)

Mr. Peter Julian: Was there nothing in the contract that carved
out Katimavik in Quebec from Katimavik elsewhere in the coun-
try? It's a very complex organization, it seems. It's been a surprise
to everybody that National was actually given this contract. It
seems to be something that has escaped any sort of due diligence.

You saw Katimavik contributing right across the country, includ-
ing in Quebec, and were unaware of the fact that its services
weren't being provided by WE in Quebec.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: That's correct. We would cer-
tainly have provided services in Quebec, in both languages, in our
part of the role.

Mr. Peter Julian: Can I ask you about Katimavik as a whole and
your board of directors? I assume that if the chair of your board of

directors asked for financial statements, they would be provided to
the chair. We heard very important testimony from Michelle Dou-
glas, who was the former chair of WE. She was basically sidelined
and asked to resign after she endeavoured for weeks to get copies
of financial statements.

I come out of the non-profit sector myself. I've never heard of a
chair of a board of directors being refused financial statements. [
assume it's a matter of course that board members are automatically
provided with financial statements at every board meeting. Is that
not true?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: In our case, Katimavik provides
a financial report at every board meeting, which are monthly. The
board of directors is given a hard copy cash flow statement and
budget actuals report every quarter.

Mr. Peter Julian: My last question is with regard to Canada
summer jobs. Canada summer jobs, in my part of the country and
right across the country, has been underfunded. In fact, the number
of positions was reduced because the terms were extended, so we
actually have fewer students employed this year during the pan-
demic than we do normally.

Do you believe that an important investment should have been
made in Canada summer jobs, which has an impact, of course, on
Katimavik students, but also on students right across the country?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: In my role as a youth advocate
for a youth empowerment organization I would say, and I don't
mean to be flippant, there's never enough support to do the work we
want to do. As much as it's responsible and affordable for govern-
ments, yes, we would welcome that investment.

The Chair: Next is Mr. Cumming, followed by Mr. Fraser.

Mr. James Cumming (Edmonton Centre, CPC): Thank you,
Mr. Cameron, for appearing today and for the very important work
you do in this sector. I very much appreciate it, and I appreciate the
work of the not-for-profits in Canada, particularly the work that
your organization is doing. It sounds very intriguing.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Thank you.

Mr. James Cumming: Had you ever worked with WE before
this specific contract came up?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, we had not.

Mr. James Cumming: Do you know with which WE organiza-
tion you were going to have the agreement? Did WE share which
one of its groups you'd be contracted with?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We understood it to be WE
Charity.

Mr. James Cumming: WE Charity, thank you.

When ESDC was calling.... It suggested that it spoke to your or-
ganization on April 15 about capacity. Do you recall that conversa-
tion it had with you? ESDC has submitted a document that suggests
it was speaking to a variety of groups to see what capacity they
would have to deliver a program like this.
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Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I may not have been on that
particular call, but I'd like to clear up that date to see, in fact, if |
was. I don't believe I participated in that particular call. To answer
your question directly, we didn't have any conversation with ESDC
about Katimavik's potential capacity. It wasn't asked of us at any
time to determine whether we had the capacity to deliver the pro-
gram.

Mr. James Cumming: Thank you for that.

In your existing programs where the students are involved, are
they volunteers? Do they receive some form of funding, or are they
strictly volunteering in these programs?

® (1650)
Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: They are volunteering.

Mr. James Cumming: They're volunteering. This program
would be quite a bit different by providing capital to volunteers, so
providing grants to them versus the pure volunteerism that your or-
ganization does a great job with.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, the program would be dif-
ferent in that, but we were very supportive of it because it did a
number of things in a very innovative way. I think it addressed the
issue of students, particularly, who would be disadvantaged from
continuing their education potentially, by providing them with an
income that they wouldn't otherwise have had, due to the impact of
COVID-109. It also, therefore, benefited more and more non-profits
and charities across the country with support and so forth they
would otherwise not have had. In that sense we felt that it was an
innovative approach to supporting our sector, which had also been
very hard-hit by the impacts of COVID.

Also, it introduced students to some involvement with non-prof-
its and community capacity building, and they would be paid some-
thing for it. We didn't see a disconnect or anything improper about
that. It was the time, in our view, for some innovation like that.

Mr. James Cumming: Have you ever applied under the Canada
summer jobs program? Has your organization applied under that
program?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes. We apply for and bring on
board staff, youth, from Canada summer jobs.

Mr. James Cumming: Do you think that could have been ex-
panded, particularly with the programs you have, to have more
youth involved with it, if there was the capacity within the program
dollar-wise?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, there is always room for
expansion. We never serve 100% of the youth that we wish to
serve, if I could answer it that way. At some point, we understand
that governments have budgets of their own and that there is a lot
of work to be done. We do the best we can to argue for the dollars
we need, and I want to use the word “fight”, in a way. We fight for
every line item in terms of our negotiations with ESDC and other
government departments, but we realize that's the right thing to do
and appropriate.

Mr. James Cumming: Since this program was cancelled, has
anyone reached out to you or picked up the phone to talk to you
about a go-forward path and taking advantage of the 40-some years
of experience on what's next, what we could do?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No, not in that context. We've
been told that the government is looking at potentially a different
way of doing this. We've essentially been asked to just wait a little
longer before they come back to us and let us know what that is.

The Chair: Thank you both—unless you have a really quick
one, James.

Mr. James Cumming: Well, I suggest that hopefully they will
pick up the phone and talk to you because we are running out of
time. These students want to get back to school. I would encourage
my friends across the aisle to pick up the phone and have that dia-
logue with you.

The Chair: All right. Thank you, all.

We have Mr. Fraser, followed by.... I don't have anybody next on
my CPC list, so somebody send me a note or be prepared to go.

Mr. Fraser.

Mr. Sean Fraser (Central Nova, Lib.): Thank you so much,
Mr. Chair. Thank you to our witness for being here and, more im-
portantly, thank you for the work that you do.

I had the opportunity early in my career to take part, not in Kati-
mavik but through a program administered by the Canadian Bar
Association, in work for a human rights organization in South
Africa. 1 have to say that kind of service opportunity was life-
changing, to say the least. I know you've had a remarkable impact
on the lives of other young people.

I see a parallel between the unfortunate circumstances surround-
ing the Canada student service grant and certain cuts that were
made to Katimavik's programming back in 2012. I want to give full
credit to my colleague Mr. McLeod, who is on this committee, who
repeatedly brings up the well-being and the interests of the students
who were hoping to take part in this program.

Building on questions he's asked from previous meetings, I'm
wondering if you can describe a little bit what the impact was for
the students who had been planning on taking part in the program
in 2012, and whether you think that the consequences for the stu-
dents who were hoping to take part in your programming this sum-
mer to be similar. What would be the impact on them? Maybe part
B to the question is how we can get things back on track for them.
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Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: To answer your second question
first, just so I can circle back, I think there's a wonderful opportuni-
ty here. There are a number of charities within the Canada service
corps, very stellar organizations and very good non-profit and char-
itable organizations as members of the CSC, and I think that's a
good source of.... It's almost a de facto advisory committee, if we're
called upon to do that, to help navigate some of the more strategic
goals of the previous grant program. We could participate in that
discussion to help sort it out and come up with some ideas on how
best to do that.

I'll have to ask you to repeat your first question. I've forgotten it.



20 FINA-51

August 13, 2020

Mr. Sean Fraser: Katimavik in 2012 went through a serious
budget cut at the time. I know that the impact on students who were
planning to take part would have been severe. I'm curious to know
whether you can describe what position it would have put the stu-
dents in and whether students who were hoping to take part this
year are facing similar circumstances.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: As a result of the timeline, we
weren't going to actually engage in any activity until that renegoti-
ated agreement was signed. In Katimavik's case, although we had
restructured the staffing to be able to support the program, we
hadn't executed yet on bringing young people into it. We just felt
that wasn't appropriate until we crossed the t's and dotted the i's on
the final agreement.

I will say to you that students, as I think all members of Parlia-
ment across the board know, are really hard hit in this time related
to COVID. I think we should do everything we can to make sure
we provide some sort of support to them before it's too late, so that
they can continue their education.

Mr. Sean Fraser: One of the things I'm interested in, and it's al-
so a point raised with frequency by Mr. Julian, is the compensation
model. It was really a tuition credit to inspire more students to take
up volunteerism.

I mentioned the opportunity I had near the beginning of my ca-
reer. One of the reasons I ended up going with that program was
that there was some compensation. Although it wasn't enough to re-
ally pay off all the student debt I'd built up, it was better than op-
portunities with other international organizations that were some-
times altogether year-long unpaid internships.

I'm curious to know whether you think the compensation built
into the Canada student service grant would have allowed you to
recruit more students and would have helped them with the cost of
going to school.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Absolutely. | know there's been
some debate about volunteerism versus remuneration for that, but I
think the added benefit in this case is that charities were very hard
hit across the board across the country. They needed more help and
assistance than necessarily a volunteer corps committed solely to
pure volunteerism might have been able to provide them. This
would have been access to almost a whole new group of young
people who could have stepped up.

Speaking to the experience you referenced, there are other added
benefits that come out of that kind of service. They leave those pro-
grams committed to community capacity building, with a greater
understanding of the various regions of the country. They feel more
connected to the country. They build bonds and friendships with
Canadians of diversity, which they otherwise would not have had
an opportunity to do. I think the net return on the investment would
have been more, in fact, than just providing jobs. We would have
had a group of young people come out with a far deeper connection
to Canada and a commitment to continue.

In 2016, I believe, Katimavik called upon Leger to run a poll. It
showed that 88% of Canadians at that time believed in these kinds
of programs, understood the benefit to them and wanted them sup-
ported. Again, I think this was a creative and innovative way in a
particular crisis to solve a number of issues.

The Chair: This will be your last question, Mr. Fraser, and then
we'll go to Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Sean Fraser: Excellent. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I'll just build upon that question. One of the things I found very
frustrating when I was finishing up my master's program and look-
ing at these opportunities was that I found that a number of the peo-
ple who could afford to go for a year, and sometimes two years, in
these high-profile unpaid internships with international organiza-
tions came from families of significant financial means.

I'm curious to know whether you think the combination of the
Canada emergency student benefit, which many of the students
would have qualified for, or the Canada emergency response bene-
fit, for that matter, with the additional tuition supplement would
have been able to help recruit low-income students who otherwise
may not have been able to afford to take part in a program that
would have been purely volunteer-based and not compensating
them at all.
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Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I would agree with that.

As I said in a previous question or in my remarks, we did reach
out to the minister to offer one suggestion, which was to maybe
look at the potential of not only supporting post-secondary educa-
tion students, who many believe, rightfully or wrongly, are privi-
leged to begin with.... I'm not arguing that's the case. I'm just saying
that can be the perception.

There is a whole segment of youth who don't feel that they have
access to higher training and education and skills development. I
think there's a real opportunity here to provide them with that kind
of support as well. That might encourage them, through training
and higher education, to conceive of things they otherwise would
not have conceived of. It doesn't have to be post-secondary. There
are all sorts of skills training and so forth that they could access.

I think it's an opportunity for all youth, regardless of economic
background, to be able to dream a little brighter and step up to get
some training that will help achieve their goals.

Mr. Sean Fraser: Thank you so much. I sincerely appreciate
your advice and feedback.

The Chair: Thank you, both.

We have two more five-minute slots. We will start with Mr.
Cooper and end the round with Mr. McLeod.

Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Cameron, when was the first time that Katimavik became
aware of the CSSG?
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Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It would have been in a call, the
date of which I don't recall. It would have been in a call I'm going
to assume was at some point in April. We were told there was going
to be a program specific to students, that the government had part-
nered with a third party provider, and that we would be brought into
the conversation as the program developed to determine what role
our organization in particular could play in mapping that out.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Who did that call come from?
Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It was on a call with ESDC.
Mr. Michael Cooper: Okay.

Other than the call you had on April 15, or thereabouts, with ES-
DC, there had been no other communications with ESDC about stu-
dent programming in this particular context, and more specifically
the CSSG, until some time after, I presume April 22. That's what
you're saying, just in terms of establishing a timeline.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: I don't remember the April 15
date. That's what I want to check and get back to you on, just to
make sure.

Mr. Michael Cooper: I apologize. Yes, you qualified that.
Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: That's all right.

I believe—and I can look for that as well—that there might have
been an email from ESDC at some point with some information
about the fact that this program was going to be coming forward
and that CSC partners would be engaged in the process by the third
party provider.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Okay.

In terms of the WE Charity, which you indicated, in your under-
standing, is the party that Katimavik entered into an agreement
with, were you aware of the WE Charity Foundation at any point?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No. I didn't know much about
WE Charity prior to hearing about them through this exercise.

Mr. Michael Cooper: You didn't know anything about WE
Charity at all, any of their entities—I mean, other than to have
heard of them.

In terms of their involvement in this type of youth programming,
or connecting youth in the context of the not-for-profit sector, that
would not have been something you would have been familiar with.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Exactly.

Of course, we knew about WE Charity, and ME to WE, and WE
Days and everything else, but in the context of pairing volunteers
with the non-profit and charitable sectors, I was not aware that they
were involved in that or had been involved in that.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Katimavik is active in all 10 provinces
and three territories in Canada.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We are currently active in six.
The plan just prior to COVID was to grow from eight to 10 by Jan-
uary and 12 by June. Our goal was a bit thwarted by the pandemic,
but that is our intention, to get back to the 12 provinces and—
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Mr. Michael Cooper: Katimavik has a track record and is in-
volved in connecting youth, with approximately how many not-for-

profit organizations at any given time? We're talking, I presume,
about hundreds.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: It is hundreds, and I'm happy to
provide you with that list as well. As well, we transparently place
that on our website.

Mr. Michael Cooper: You have that track record going back to
what, 1977? Do I have that right?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, it was 1977. You have that
right.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Okay, and it's in both English and French,
in Quebec.

In that regard, in terms of partnering, has Katimavik partnered
with other charities or other organizations to deliver a program?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We partner with institutions to
support some of the program initiatives that we can't fund on our
own. We're often asked to create partnerships with other charities,
and of course we do consider those based on a values-connection
synergy basis, but I wouldn't say that we formalize partnerships
necessarily to execute on the volunteer placement side. We've been
doing that since 1977 on our own and continue to do that now.

The Chair: This is the last question, Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Michael Cooper: I think that satisfies the questions that [
had.

Thank you, Mr. Cameron, for that.
The Chair: Thank you, both, very much.

The last round will go to Mr. McLeod, and then we'll wrap it up.

Go ahead, Mr. McLeod.
Mr. Michael McLeod: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you to Mr. Cameron for joining us today.

I want to ask about the Katimavik program. It's an Inuit name, an
Inuit language name. I see it's located in B.C., Alberta, Manitoba,
Ontario and Quebec, but I don't see any projects in the north.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: No. As I was saying in my pre-
vious question, very often we are funded to provide the program
and to launch the program in certain regions of the country. We
were supposed to—prior to COVID—with the support of ESDC,
develop a growth plan into all 12 provinces and northern territories
of the country.

That was, I want to say, very temporarily stayed, because we
have a very definite commitment to make sure that we grow be-
yond the provinces and into the northern communities as well.

Mr. Michael McLeod: You would have had the capacity to de-
liver in the Northwest Territories with the CSSG. Is that what
you're saying?
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Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We have the capacity through
alumni and anyone in the current cohorts who would have come
from the north. As you know, our organization has made a 50-year
commitment for our last strategic plan to the manifestation of the
truth and reconciliation commitment with indigenous communities,
so we have a very definite interest.

In every house that Katimavik runs of 11 youth, our goal is to en-
gage three of those 11 youth with indigenous youth. We fell short
by one in this last cohort, so we're well on our way to achieving
that goal and surpassing it.

Mr. Michael McLeod: I know historically we saw a lot of peo-
ple from your organization in the north. We saw a lot of people in
different communities, and I don't see that anymore. I don't see any-
body from your organization in the communities, and I travel right
across the Northwest Territories.

Is that something as a result of the cuts that happened during the
Harper government in 2012? You pulled back. You have a Inuit
name, but you don't have a strong presence in the north.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, as a result of the diversity
in funding allotments, let's say, through the years, the organization
has had to shrink and expand and be fairly fluid in how we do that,
but we do have a large number of alumni from the north who par-
ticipated in our programs who would have been eligible for the stu-
dent grants program as a member of our stakeholder group and our
alumni base.

We have a number of indigenous community members on our
board, and we remain very committed to ensuring that, within the
next round of negotiations with the federal government, we retain
and regain a presence in the north, for sure.

® (1710)

Mr. Michael McLeod: I'm sure the impacts in 2012 affected the
Katimavik organization. How have the impacts that happened here
for this youth opportunity affected your organization?

I think there are a lot of concerns around missed opportunity for
the north, but there are also concerns about the ripple effects that
have happened to charities and non-profit organizations that have
missed out, including all the individuals who would have served
and were served by those organizations from coast to coast to coast.
Could you talk about that, including how this has impacted your or-
ganization?

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: We were thrilled, as I said earli-
er, and excited at the opportunity to participate in this program. In
advance of the final negotiations on the agreement, we had restruc-
tured our staff team to be able to meet the objectives of the pro-
gram. One direct impact, of course, was that we lost out on the
costs associated with that work, and we had to pull back and re-re-
structure, no longer with the goal of executing on that program.

There were some sort of direct operational challenges that the re-
moval of the program placed on our shoulders, but we were confi-
dent that eventually a solution would be found and that we would
participate again in some new vision of how that program's objec-
tives could be achieved.

The Chair: This is your last question, Michael.

Mr. Michael McLeod: I just want to point out that you have a
really strong indigenous theme. You have a name that, in the Inuit
language, means “meeting place”. You strongly support learning of
the history of indigenous peoples. You support culture and truth and
reconciliation. It would be nice to see some of your criteria go fur-
ther than just English and French, to maybe use indigenous lan-
guages as something you're seeking also for your board members.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Yes, absolutely. Our new strate-
gic plan does articulate those goals. I hope you don't mind and don't
think it's inappropriate, but I'll definitely be reaching out to you to
support us in terms of how we can convince bureaucrats and the
government to make sure that we can get the funding required to
make that a priority again, because we're very anxious and delibera-
tive in our intent to do so.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you both very much.

Mr. Cameron, on behalf of the committee, I certainly want to
thank you for your presentation today and for answering our ques-
tions. More than that, on behalf of every member of the committee,
I thank Katimavik for the work that you do with young people. I
have a couple of friends just five houses from where I'm sitting
who were in a Katimavik program in the early 1980s. They're up
here, have three kids and are still married, so they're doing well.
Neither one was from P.E.L., but they came here.

Mr. John-Frederick Cameron: Thank you so much.
The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Poilievre.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: I have a motion. Here it is:

That the Standing Committee on Finance hold an additional meeting on its study
into government spending, WE Charity and the Canada Student Service Grant
on Wednesday, August, 19, for three hours in length; that each party can submit
witnesses; and that the meeting focus on WE contracting NATIONAL Public
Relations and the ability to deliver the program in the province of Quebec.

The Chair: You better read that again. You're talking about
meeting for three hours on Wednesday. It is in order, as it's related
to the business we're doing, but could you read it again? People
don't have a copy. Take your time.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: It says, “That the Standing Commit-
tee—"

[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: I'd just like to suggest a friendly amendment.

August 19 is impossible for us because we'll be in caucus all next
week. The motion seems desirable to me, but I don't know if
Mr. Poilievre would be somewhat flexible as far as the date is con-
cerned.
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Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Perhaps we could agree—
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[English]

The Chair: I'll come in for a minute, Mr. Poilievre. It's really the
whips, at the end of the day, who have to decide when we meet, in
any event. If it was left broad enough, with a three-hour meeting
next week, I think that would do it, but the whips have to decide,
because of the Zoom business in Parliament.

[Translation]

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Mr. Fortin, is it true that you won't be
available at all next week?

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Our members will be in the Gaspé until
Thursday evening. I'll be on my way back on Friday, and it takes
12 hours to get home. So I won't be able to make myself available.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: All right.

Mr. Chair, could I suggest that next week we have a meeting of
our sub-committee with a representative from each party to plan
our next steps? It could be by telephone, and it wouldn't be neces-

sary to have a Zoom meeting. The meeting would obviously be in
camera to plan the list of future witnesses and upcoming meetings.

[English]

The Chair: Sure. I think we can agree to that. That's not a prob-
lem. We should try to find out where we're at anyway and when we
can direct the analysts to start to write a report with the documents
coming down.

We'll have to try to plan it. I think it pretty much has to be a
video conference because of the interpretation, but we can figure
that out. We can commit to having a subcommittee meeting at some
point next week, because it will have to be worked out with the var-
ious members, along with whether they can attend.

[Translation]

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: It would just be a planing meeting, not a
meeting with witnesses.

Does that work for you, Mr. Fortin?

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Yes, I could free myself up for about 30 min-
utes for a planning meeting, but not for three hours.

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Okay, [ understand. That's great.

Mr. Peter Julian: The meeting will last a maximum of an hour.
[English]

The Chair: Mr. Julian, I can't hear you.
[Translation]

Mr. Peter Julian: It should work now. My microphone isn't on
mute, and I'm on the French channel.

Can you hear me now?
[English]

The Chair: It's okay, yes. Speak.
[Translation]

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: It's always better when you speak French,
Mr. Julian.

Mr. Peter Julian: It's always a pleasure.
Mr. Fortin, I think this committee meeting will last between half

an hour and an hour. So I'm going to support Mr. Poilievre's motion
and your amendment.

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Do we need it as a motion, or can I just commit that
we'll have a steering committee meeting at some point next week to
determine future business related to the ideas in Mr. Poilievre's mo-
tion? I don't think we really need a motion to do that. I can accept
that as direction, if that's okay.

Mr. Rhéal Fortin: It's okay for me.
[Translation]

Hon. Pierre Poilievre: Yes, absolutely. We accept your commit-
ment to hold a planning meeting. We can schedule other meetings
after that.

[English]

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Mr. Chair, I'm just a bit confused here.
Is it a call that we're going to be planning out here, or is it a regular
meeting? What's the way forward that's being suggested?

The Chair: It would be just a steering committee meeting, a sub-
committee meeting, for about half an hour at some point next week
to plan future business and the point that Mr. Poilievre had in his
motion.

Is that okay?
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you.

The Chair: All right. Is there any other business that people
need to attend to? Hopefully, you'll soon have a lot of reading to do.

With that, we will adjourn. Thank you very much. Have a great
weekend, everyone.

The meeting is adjourned.
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